STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Anderson County

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MATTHEW BRANDON FULLBRIGHT,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2012-207553

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. In violation of Appellant's right against self-incrimination pursuant to the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article One, Section Twelve of the South Carolina Constitution, the trial judge erred in admitting Appellant's video-recorded statements at his arraignment hearing where the statements were obtained through questioning by the brother of the deceased and Appellant neither received advisement of his right against self-incrimination nor voluntarily waived his right.

II. The trial court erred in admitting the video-recorded statements by Appellant at his arraignment, in which he responded to specific questions by the brother of the deceased, a non-judicial officer, concerning the crime by asking for forgiveness and essentially admitting his guilt where the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value.

III. The trial judge erred in admitting Appellant's statement to police where the statement was obtained in violation of Appellant's right pursuant to the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article One, Section Twelve of the South Carolina Constitution due to Appellant's inability to knowingly and voluntarily waive his rights in light of his drug use and medical condition, and the lengthy interrogation employed by the police.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Anderson County grand jury indicted Appellant for two counts of murder (2010-GS-04-00069, -00070) and two counts of armed robbery (2010-GS-04-00071, -00072) on January 19, 2010. R. 701 (Indictments). Appellant was tried before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh and a jury during the week of January 23, 2012. Chrissy Adams and Catherine Huey represented the state, and Scott Robinson represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. Tr. 726, lines 5-23. Judge McIntosh sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment on each of the murder charges and to thirty years' imprisonment on each of the armed robbery charges. He ordered the sentences to run consecutively. R. 686, lines 1-6; R. 703 (Sentence sheets).

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 24, 2009, police officers responded to a call concerning an abandoned vehicle. Officers observed blood inside the car. Eventually, officers determined the car belonged to Homer (Husband) and Joann (Wife) Staton. On October 25, 2009, officers discovered Husband's body. Using Husband's phone records, officers determined his phone had been used to call Irving "Ernie" Ramirez. Officers then interviewed Ramirez. Appellant became the focus of the investigation based upon Ramirez's statements. R. 200, line 2- R. 204, line 5.

On October 28, 2009, officers interviewed Appellant, who allegedly provided officers with numerous inculpatory statements and led officers to the body of Wife. Thereafter, Appellant was charged with two counts of murder and two counts of armed robbery relating to the deaths of Husband and Wife. R. 204, lines 15-24; R. 206, lines 1-4; R. 221, line 5 – R. 225, line 7.

ARGUMENT

I. In violation of Appellant's right against self-incrimination pursuant to the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article One, Section Twelve of the South Carolina Constitution, the trial judge erred in admitting Appellant's video-recorded statements at his arraignment hearing where the statements were obtained through questioning by the brother of the deceased and Appellant neither received advisement of his right against self-incrimination nor voluntarily waived his right.

Relevant facts

On November 4, 2009, Appellant appeared at an arraignment hearing after being charged with conspiracy relating to the murders of Husband and Wife. R. 54, lines 13-16; R. 187, lines 18-21.¹ The arraignment was conducted using video conferencing. Appellant, dressed in prison garb, remained at the jail surrounded by officers while appearing on video before the judge for his arraignment. The presiding judge, Husband's brother, and the victim's advocate were in a separate area. During the arraignment and in the presence of the judge, Husband's brother interrogated Appellant. Specifically, Husband's brother asked Appellant why he killed Husband and Wife in the manner in which the prosecution alleged. Appellant responded that people make certain decisions when they are caught up in a lifestyle, that he did not justify it, and did not expect the family's forgiveness. Appellant then narrated the Biblical story of King David having Bathsheba's husband killed so that he may wed her and of God's forgiveness of David. State's Exhibit #15.² Local television

¹ Appellant stood trial for two counts of murder and two counts of armed robbery concerning Husband and Wife. The prosecution did not call the conspiracy count for trial.

² State's Exhibit #15 is on file with this Court.

station, WYFF 4, attended the arraignment and videotaped the exchange between Husband's brother and Appellant. The prosecution wanted to admit the video recorded by the local news channel as no official recording of the proceeding existed. R. 151, lines 18-19; R. 152, lines 11-12; State's Exhibit #15.

In pretrial proceedings, Appellant moved to exclude the video. Appellant attacked the admissibility of the video on multiple fronts, including Appellant's rights pursuant to the Fifth Amendment and Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. In addition to relying upon Gardner v. Broderick, 392 U.S. 273 (1968) concerning Appellant's rights against self-incrimination, Appellant also argued there was "no evidence that his rights to an attorney were knowingly and voluntarily given." R. 139, line 17 – R. 140, line 24. Regarding a computerized "checklist," Appellant argued it was completed by a judge and did not indicate whether Appellant knowingly and voluntarily waived his rights. R. 141, line 13 – R. 142, line 3.

The prosecution relied upon State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 671 S.E.2d 107 (Ct. App. 2008) to argue that advisement of Miranda warnings was not required because Appellant was "not subject to custodial interrogation." Additionally, the prosecutor explained she had a "checklist" that showed Appellant "was advised of his rights." The prosecutor failed to make the checklist a part of the record, however. R. 141, lines 1-9.

Judge McIntosh insisted the issue involved Miranda – whether Appellant knowingly and intelligently waived his rights. He ruled the case was controlled by Kirton and "it is a Miranda question." He determined the video was admissible. R. 142, lines 17-24. When discussing the foundation requirements for admitting the video, the judge clarified his ruling regarding the video. He explained he previously ruled at a pretrial that under Kirton, the

scenario did not involve custodial interrogation and therefore, there was no requirement that Appellant be advised of his rights pursuant to Miranda. Additionally, he explained that he overruled Appellant's objection pursuant to the Sixth Amendment - that the state presented no evidence he had waived his right to an attorney and that an attorney was not present for the arraignment. R. 185, lines 3-11.

Later, the judge placed additional comments on the record regarding his ruling on the video evidence. He explained the admission of the video of the arraignment "was resisted by [Appellant] on several grounds which would include, but not be limited to, the Fifth Amendment right to Miranda, and also the Sixth Amendment right to counsel." He previously ruled the arraignment was not a custodial interrogation so that the Fifth Amendment Miranda warning requirement was inapplicable to the circumstances. Turning to the Sixth Amendment claim, he explained the arraignment was a critical juncture at which Appellant had a right to counsel. He further explained that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel is offense-specific "even if the offenses are factually related." Here, Appellant was being arraigned on a new charge stemming from the same underlying facts in the case before the court for adjudication. Judge McIntosh found Appellant "did not invoke his right to counsel concerning this new charge. In fact, [Appellant] executed a waiver of his right to counsel, and therefore, ... the protections afforded by the Sixth Amendment right to counsel were not implicated under the circumstances involved at the arraignment hearing." R. 391, line 20 – R. 393, line 5.

At the conclusion of the state's case, the prosecutor played the arraignment video for the jury. R. 540, lines 3-8. Additionally, the prosecutor played the arraignment video for the jury at the conclusion of her closing argument. She explained to the jury that it had

Appellant's "written words" and "his spoken words" to use to convict him. She left the jury with Appellant's "spoken words." R. 684, lines 4-5.

Discussion

Appellant is unaware of any case in the country in which a murder victim's relative has been permitted to interrogate a criminal defendant in a courtroom setting or of any such interrogation being viewed by the jury. Thus, this is a novel issue before the Court. A historical analysis of the protections afforded by the Fifth Amendment provides context in order to examine Appellant's claim.

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "No person ... shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." U.S. Const. amend. V. This privilege has been extended to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. Malloy v. Hogan, 378 U.S. 1, 6 (1964). The Fifth Amendment proscribes self-incrimination obtained by compulsion of testimony. Michigan v. Tucker, 417 U.S. 433, 440 (1974). The Fifth Amendment privileges a person "not to answer official questions put to him in any other proceeding, civil or criminal, formal or informal, where the answers might incriminate him in future criminal proceedings." Lefkowitz v. Turley, 414 U.S. 70, 77 (1973). "The essence of this basic constitutional principle is 'the requirement that the state which proposes to convict and punish an individual produce the evidence against him by the independent labor of its officers, not by the simple, cruel expedient of forcing it from his own lips.'" Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454, 462 (1981)(quoting Culombe v. Connecticut, 367 U.S. 568, 581-582 (1961)). "[T]he availability of the privilege does not turn upon the type of proceeding in which its protection is invoked, but upon the nature of the statement or admission and the exposure it invites." In re Gault, 387 U.S. 1, 49 (1967). "[T]he Fifth

Amendment privilege is available outside of criminal court proceedings and serves to protect persons in all settings in which their freedom of action is curtailed in any significant way from being compelled to incriminate themselves.” Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 467 (1966). The Fifth Amendment guarantees a criminal defendant an unqualified right to choose whether to testify at trial and at sentencing. Harris v. New York, 401 U.S. 222, 225 (1971).

The Fifth Amendment privilege is violated by officially coerced self-accusation. United States v. Washington, 431 U.S. 181, 187 (1977). Thus, the Fifth Amendment’s protections extend to statements or acts that are (1) compelled; (2) testimonial; and (3) incriminating of the person in a criminal proceeding. United States v. Hubbell, 530 U.S. 27, 34-37 (2000).

Without question, Appellant’s statements made during the arraignment hearing were self-incriminating and testimonial. In Doe v. United States, 487 U.S. 201, 210 n. 9 (1988), the Supreme Court held that a testimonial “communication must itself, explicitly or implicitly, relate a factual assertion or disclose information” that expresses “the contents of an individual’s mind.” Testimony is self-incriminating “if reasonable cause exists to believe that the testimony would either support a conviction or provide a link in the chain of evidence leading to a conviction.” Hoffman v. United States, 341 U.S. 479, 486 (1968). The statements must pose a “substantial and ‘real,’ and not merely trifling or imaginary hazard” of criminal prosecution. Marchetti v. United States, 390 U.S. 39, 53 (1968). Appellant’s requesting of forgiveness, narrating one of the oldest stories of forgiveness for the ultimate sin of murder, and explaining the decisions made from living a drug “lifestyle,” when asked by Husband’s brother why Husband and Wife were killed were clearly

communications, which, explicitly or implicitly, related information that expressed the contents of Appellant's mind and would support either Appellant's conviction or provide a link in the chain of evidence leading to Appellant's conviction. Judge McIntosh found the statements were essentially admissions. R. 105, lines 1-13("the conversation purports to be what would sound like an admission of the allegations").

Appellant's statements at the arraignment were compelled. The test is whether, considering the totality of the circumstances, the free will of the witness was overborne. Rogers v. Richmond, 365 U.S. 534, 544 (1961). Thus, courts look at the circumstances surrounding the incriminating statements to determine whether the environment was such as would compel a defendant to give self-incriminating testimony. While Appellant is unaware of any case holding that statements made by a criminal defendant when the defendant was interrogated by the brother of the deceased in the presence of the court during an arraignment, the history of the scope of the protections afforded under the Fifth Amendment require application of its protections to the instant matter.

The Supreme Court held that the admission of incriminating statements made during the course of a court-ordered psychiatric examination violated the Fifth Amendment because the statements were not "given freely and voluntarily without any compelling influences." Estelle, 451 U.S. at 468-469. In order for incriminating statements obtained during a psychiatric examination to be admissible at trial, the prosecution must show the government apprised the defendant of his right to remain silent and that his statement could be used against him and the defendant knowingly waived that right. Id. "The considerations calling for the accused to be warned prior to custodial interrogation apply with no less force to the pretrial psychiatric examination." Id. at 467. The questioner –

whether psychiatrist, police officer, government informant, or prosecutor - was immaterial to the Court's decision. Id. When the psychiatrist went beyond reporting on the issuance of competence and testified for the prosecution as to the crucial issue of future dangerousness, "his role changed and became essentially like that of an agent of the state recounting unwarned statements made in a post-arrest custodial setting." Id.

However, when the defendant was advised of his right to remain silent during a court-ordered psychiatric evaluation, the Fourth Circuit found no violation of the Fifth Amendment when the prosecutor introduced psychiatric testimony concerning the defendant's future dangerousness. Woomer v. Aiken, 856 F.2d 677, 681-682 (4th Cir. 1988); see also Savino v. Murray, 82 F.3d 593, 604-605 (4th Cir. 1996)(finding no Fifth Amendment violation when government's psychiatric evaluation was admitted because the defendant requested the evaluation and received warnings from the government's psychiatrist and his lawyer about potential use of information revealed).

Numerous federal circuits have found various situations analogous to the one presented here as creating environments in which the defendant was compelled to give testimony against himself. The First Circuit found a defendant was compelled to incriminate himself by threat of job termination if he did not answer investigators' questions. As a result, the defendant's Fifth Amendment right to remain silent was violated. Sher v. U.S. Dep't of Veterans Affairs, 488 F.3d 489, 502 (1st Cir. 2007). The Second Circuit found a defendant's refusal to cooperate with the government and the resulting five-year sentence increase was a Fifth Amendment violation because the penalty was for his silence. United States v. Rivera, 201 F.3d 99, 101-102 (2nd Cir. 1999). In United States v. Pavelko, 992 F.2d 32, 34 (3rd Cir. 1993), the Court found a Fifth Amendment violation

where the prosecutor used a defendant's financial affidavit, prepared to obtain court-appointed counsel, against the defendant at trial because preparation of the affidavit created a conflict between the defendant's Fifth and Sixth amendment rights. See also United States v. Aguirre, 605 F.3d 351, 358 (6th Cir. 2010); United States v. Hardwell, 80 F.3d 1471, 1484 (10th Cir. 1996)(finding violation of the Fifth Amendment when financial documents defendant was required to prepare to receive court- appointed counsel were admitted at trial).

In United States v. Kennedy, 372 F.3d 686, 691-692 (4th Cir. 2004), the Fourth Circuit found a violation of the Fifth Amendment when the defendant was compelled to provide grand jury testimony relating to a drug conviction because the government misadvised him that refusal to answer was subject to perjury charges though conviction under appeal.

In Minnesota v. Murphy, 465 U.S. 420, 427 (1984), the Supreme Court held that answering questions before a probation officer did not convert otherwise voluntary statements into compelled ones. However, if the questions required answers that would incriminate the probationer in pending or later criminal proceedings where failure to answer would result in revocation of probation, then the probationer's answers would be deemed compelled and inadmissible in a criminal prosecution. Id. at 435. Noteworthy, the probationer was not in custody or under arrest at the time. Relying upon Murphy, this Court held that a probationer's statements to his probation agent that he had been using cocaine the night for an automobile accident were inadmissible where there was no indication the probationer had been warned that his statements may be used against him in a pending matter unrelated to his probation. This Court was persuaded by the fact that the probationer

was in jail at the time of the agent's interrogation resulting in the creation of an environment in which the probationer felt compelled to answer. State v. Hook, 348 S.C. 401, 412-414, 559 S.E.2d 856, 861-862 (Ct. App. 2002).

In State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 671 S.E.2d 107 (Ct. App. 2008), this Court examined the circumstances surrounding Kirton's statements to determine the statements were not compelled. At his bond hearing, Kirton was advised of his Miranda rights, including that he had the right to remain silent and that anything he said could be used against him. The magistrate then asked Kirton if he would like to address the court. When Kirton responded that he needed help, the magistrate inquired what kind of help, to which Kirton responded "I need mental help." Id. at 22, 671 S.E.2d at 114. This Court held Kirton was not subjected to custodial interrogation. Although he was in custody, "[t]here [was] no evidence that he was subjected to questioning by law enforcement or any other interrogation such that the requirement to provide Miranda warnings attached." 381 S.C. at 39, 671 S.E.2d at 123.

While finding that Kirton was not questioned by law enforcement or anyone associated with law enforcement, this Court emphasized that Kirton was asked a single question by a magistrate presiding over his bond hearing, which related solely to the setting of bond and was not intended to illicit an incriminating response. Id. at 41, 671 S.E.2d at 124. Thus, this Court concluded there was no requirement that Kirton be advised of his Miranda rights and no requirement that a waiver of those rights be obtained. Id.³ This Court concluded that a bond hearing was not an inherently coercive environment requiring the presiding judge to advise the defendant of his rights. This Court examined the specific

³ This Court's alternative holding was that Kirton had been advised of his rights and voluntarily waived those rights. Kirton, 381 S.C. at 42, 671 S.E.2d at 125.

circumstances surrounding Kirton's statements and determined the single question by the magistrate unrelated to the crime was not of the kind that would make a defendant feel compelled to give incriminating evidence. Thus, the magistrate had no duty to warn Kirton of his rights or obtain a waiver of those rights.

Perhaps the most widely known area of application of the Fifth Amendment is in the context of custodial interrogations. Due to the concerns about police coercion resulting in compulsion of self-incriminating statements, the Miranda Court determined custodial interrogations were inherently coercive. As a result, the Court required a person subjected to custodial interrogations be advised of his rights prior to the interrogation.

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