**ORIGINAL**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Anderson County  
The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

**THE STATE,**

Respondent,

v.

**MATTHEW BRANDON FULLBRIGHT,**

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2012-207553

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Assistant Attorney General  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-6305

CHRISTINA T. ADAMS  
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit  
100 South Main Street  
Anderson, SC 29624  
(864) 260-4046

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

The State also established through two (2) separate witnesses that Fullbright also entered a convenience store the day after the Staton's murders and made three (3) separate purchases each with a separate one hundred dollar (\$100.00) bill, and on these occasions, Fullbright purchased items that could be used to smoke drugs. **(R. pp. 268-74, 341-42, 378-390, 259, 492-519).**

As a result, even if Judge McIntosh erred in admitting the video of the arraignment, the error was harmless where the evidence of Fullbright's guilt was overwhelming independent of this evidence, including two (2) written confessions and taking police to one (1) victim's dead body. **(R. pp. 170-83, 198-241, 244-59, 268-74, 299-300, 312-42, 344-45, 347, 364-77, 378-90, 395-417, 418-22, 423-28, 429-84, 492-519, State's Ex. 2 & State's Ex. 4).** State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003)(admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence); State v. Braxton, 343 S.C. 629, 541 S.E.2d 833 (2001); State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 247 S.E.2d 334 (1978); *see also* State v. Williams,

321 S.C. 455, 469 S.E.2d 49 (1996)(error in admission of evidence is harmless where it is cumulative to other evidence which was properly admitted); State v. Douglas, 367 S.C. 498, 520, 626 S.E.2d 59, 71 (Ct. App. 2006)(“The admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence”).

## ARGUMENT II.

**Judge McIntosh did not err in admitting the video-recorded admission of Fullbright to a relative of the victim under Rule 403, SCRE because the probative value of the admission of guilt was not substantially outweighed by any prejudicial effect to Fullbright.**

Judge McIntosh also denied Fullbright’s *in limine* objection to the admission of the videotape of the arraignment proceeding under Rule 403, SCRE. Fullbright argued the prejudicial effect of his video recorded admissions to a relative of the victim *substantially outweighed* any probative value of the evidence. Judge McIntosh found the probative value of the admissions outweighed any prejudicial effect and admitted this evidence under Rule 403, SCRE. (Tr. pp. 53-77, 89-111, 125-35, 353-55).

### *Lack of Preservation of the Issue*

As previously set forth under ground one, at the time the videotape was published for the jury, even though Judge McIntosh had informed Fullbright he would allow him to place his objections on the record to preserve the issue for appeal, Fullbright did not renew his objection to the admission of the videotape on any basis, including under Rule 403, SCRE. (Tr. pp. 515, 724). As a result, Respondent submits this issue is not preserved for appellate review. State v. Wannamaker, 346 S.C. 495, 552 S.E.2d 284 (2001); State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 479 S.E.2d 57 (1996); Ramos v. Hawley, 316 S.C. 534, 451 S.E.2d 27 (Ct. App. 1994)(failure to object to photographs at the time they were offered waives right to object on appeal).

### **The Lack of Merit of this Ground**

Regardless, even if this Court determines this issue is preserved for appellate review, it has no merit for the reasons stated below.

#### *Standard of Review*

In reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence, appellate courts recognize that the trial judge has considerable latitude in this regard and will not disturb such rulings absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 557, 732 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2012); State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." Whitner, 399 S.C. at 557, 732 S.E.2d at 866 (citation omitted).

Under Rule 403, SCRE, "evidence may be excluded if its probative value is **substantially outweighed** by the danger of unfair prejudice ..." Rule 403, SCRE (emphasis added). "A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances." State v. Martuci, 380 S.C. 232, 250, 669 S.E.2d 598, 607 (Ct. App. 2008); State v. Vang, 353 S.C. 78, 87, 577 S.E.2d 225, 229 (Ct. App. 2003). "Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis." State v. Spears, 403 S.C. 247, 253, 742 S.E.2d 878, 881 (Ct. App. 2013); State v. Collins, 398 S.C. 197, 727 S.E.2d 751 (Ct. App. 2012).

The probative value of Fullbright's admission to the commission of the murders of JoAnn and Homer Staton is clear, compelling, and highly relevant. Fullbright was on trial for two (2) counts of murder and two (2) counts of armed robbery. His admission to the victim's brother

that he committed the murders, and why, identified him as the murderer of Homer and JoAnn Staton, or at the least as a participant in their murders, and established the motive for the murders. Fullbright admitted it was his drug addiction and lifestyle that led to the victims' murders. (State's Ex. 15). Appellant concedes the video recorded statement provided probative evidence of the crimes with which Fullbright was charged because in the tape Fullbright admitted his guilt to the murders. (BOA, p. 19). Further, *in his opening statement to the jury*, Fullbright told the jury that **he did not make the written confessions police would testify he made and signed, and he was completely innocent of the crimes and had been framed by police.** (R. pp. 144-49). This claim before the jury further enhanced the probative value of the evidence at issue here (State's Ex. 15), because it showed Fullbright had confessed to the crime and was not trying to hide his guilt shortly after making the written confessions. (State's Ex. 15, State's Ex. 2, State's Ex. 4). The video-taped confession of Fullbright completely undercut and disproved Fullbright's claim he did not confess and was innocent of the crimes.

The prejudice to Fullbright was minimal. The jury knew Fullbright was arrested and charged with the victims' murders and their armed robberies. Therefore, the jury knew Fullbright was incarcerated at some point pending trial. Additionally, an investigator testified to Fullbright's detention after arrest and accompanying the officer to several locations in an attempt to recover evidence. Further, Fullbright admitted in his own trial testimony that he had been incarcerated for two (2) years prior to trial. (R. pp. 541-83, 592-611). Jurors are well aware that inmates detained temporarily or permanently in a county jail facility wear uniforms issued by the county jail facility. The prejudice from this fact was minimal. Furthermore, Fullbright was not dressed in an orange jumpsuit at trial but street clothes. It was only in the video of the

*arraignment hearing* that Fullbright was dressed in orange. The relevance of the video was Fullbright's *statements made on the video*, i.e. his admission he committed the murders and why.

In order to exclude relevant probative evidence, the prejudice must *substantially outweigh* the probative value of the evidence. Rule 403, SCRE. In this case, Fullbright has not shown any conceivable prejudice to him from the videotape substantially outweighed the probative value of his admission of guilt to the murders and admission to the motive for the murders.

Further, even if the evidence had not been admitted in the State's case in chief, its probative value, which *was* already great, was heightened even further by Fullbright's trial testimony that he did not confess to investigators; his written confessions were fabricated by police, and he was completely innocent of the crimes. (R. pp. 541-83, 592-611). The videotaped admission would have been admissible in reply and its probative value far outweighed any prejudicial effect where Fullbright contended at trial *he was completely innocent* of the murders in this case and never confessed to the crimes. (R. pp. 541-83, 592-611, State's Ex. 15). Rule 403, SCRE.

#### ***Harmless Error***

Furthermore, as stated under the previous ground, even assuming *arguendo* Judge McIntosh erred in admitting this evidence under Rule 403, it was harmless given the other overwhelming evidence of Fullbright's guilt apart from the videotape. Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 310, 111 S.Ct. 1246 (1991)(holding error in admission of involuntary confession is subject to harmless error analysis); Franklin v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 563, 552 S.E.2d 718 (2001)(same); State v. Perry, 74 S.C. 551, 54 S.E.764 (1906)(finding admission not prejudicial in

part because defendant made same confession to others).

Completely separate from the videotape, the record shows the victims, who were residents of Taylors, S.C., were last seen alive in Greenville the afternoon/evening of October 23, 2009 by their daughter. The victims regularly engaged in buying gold; however, they would not engage in such transactions after dark unless they knew the individual involved. Mr. Staton wore expensive jewelry and carried approximately twenty-five thousand (\$25,000) in cash with him at any one (1) time consisting of mainly one hundred dollar (\$100) bills. Cell phone records established the victim Homer Staton received several cell phone calls, including one at his home, on the night of his disappearance from a cell phone located in Anderson County belonging to Ernie Ramirez, a neighbor of Fullbright. The victims' car was then found the following morning in Anderson County abandoned on a secluded road. Inside the vehicle, police found blood spatter, human bone fragments, and human tissue. The evidence inside the car also indicated the victims were seated in the car with their seatbelts on when they were assaulted. Samples from inside the vehicle were consistent with Homer and JoAnn Staton's DNA.

On October 25, 2009, Homer Staton's body was recovered on a secluded road in Anderson County. His jewelry was missing and no cash was found on his person. His autopsy determined he died from blunt force trauma to the head consistent with being struck in the head with a hammer. The autopsy also determined he had been struck at least eleven (11) times. JoAnn Staton had not been located.

Police interviewed Ernie Ramirez, who indicated appellant Fullbright had possession of his cell phone on the night of the Staton's disappearance. Cell phone records showed the victim Homer Staton received a phone call from that phone around 6:00 p.m. the night of the victims'

disappearance.

Fullbright came in for questioning, after which he eventually admitted he knew where JoAnn Staton was located. Fullbright then directed police to the location of JoAnn Staton's body in a secluded wooded area of Anderson County, some thirty (30) to forty (40) minutes from the Anderson Sheriff's Office. While still dark, Fullbright directed investigators to within fifty (50) feet of JoAnn Staton's body, and police were able to recover her body only as a result of Fullbright's directions.

Mrs. Staton's autopsy also revealed she was bludgeoned to death with a hammer and was struck approximately eighteen (18) times. Fullbright described the weapon used to murder both Homer and JoAnn Staton as a hammer, drew a picture of the hammer for police, described the various colors on the hammer, and led to police to a swamp located on property owned by his father or on property adjacent to property owned by his father where Fullbright alleged the murder weapon had been thrown. Only after draining the swamp, were police able to recover a hammer that matched the description Fullbright had given them of the murder weapon.

In his two (2) written confessions, one of which was initialed, and the other which was signed, Fullbright admitted being an integral part in the planning of the armed robbery of the victims, and explained to police the motive for the murders. In his last statement, Fullbright admitted the plan from the beginning was to murder the Statons and rob them of the cash and jewelry they were expected to have on their person. Fullbright also admitted leading the victims to the location where they were to be robbed and murdered, sitting in the back seat behind the Staton's on the way to where the murders and armed robberies were to occur, participating in the robberies and murders as an aider and abetter, and then disposing of Mr. Staton's body, the

victims' car, and receiving proceeds from the murders and robberies he helped plan and commit. These written confessions were admitted before the jury.

Cell phone records also established Fullbright had in fact been in contact with the Statons before the day of their disappearance by contacting them on his aunt's telephone. Further, in his confessions, Fullbright admitted he used Ramirez' phone to contact the Statons on the day of their murders and lure them to Anderson County. Furthermore, cell phone records established the Statons were contacted at their home in Taylors around 6:00 p.m., and then they drove through Williamston, through Belton, and eventually ended up in Iva, where they were in fact murdered. Mr. Staton stopped making cell phone calls on his personal phone around 8:00 p.m. that night. Cell phone records also showed Fullbright started making cell phone calls to a friend and then a drug dealer after 9:00 p.m. on the night of the murders on a Go Phone recently purchased by Mr. Staton, which Fullbright also admitted in his confession. The box for this phone was found in the Staton's abandoned *Corrola*. However, the cell phone records showed Fullbright did not immediately call Ramirez after the victims were murdered, as he claimed in his confessions implicating Ramirez, and in fact Ramirez was at his home during the time period that the murders occurred. The cell phone records established Fullbright made cell phone calls on the night of the victims' murders from near where Homer Staton's body was dumped, and near where the victims' car was abandoned. The cell phone records also established Fullbright did meet with the drug dealer at an abandoned store, as described by the drug dealer in his testimony, shortly after the victims' murders, where Fullbright purchased illegal drugs.

Fullbright arrived at this drug transaction in a *small black car* the drug dealer had never seen Fullbright in before. In the following days, Fullbright purchased more drugs from the same

drug dealer, and the purchases were for more drugs that Fullbright purchased from the same drug dealer prior to the victims' murders. In one of the drug transactions, Fullbright purchased drugs with one hundred dollar (\$100.00) bills.

The State also established, through receipts and surveillance video footage, that the day following the victims' murders, Fullbright entered a Walmart and purchased two (2) gas cans and then gasoline at an adjoining gas station. Ramirez informed police that the day following the victims' murders, he accompanied Fullbright deer hunting, where Fullbright burned items in a burn pile. Ramirez took police to the location of the burn pile and this was photographed by police. The photographs of the burn pile were admitted before the jury.

The State also established through two (2) separate witnesses, Fullbright also entered a convenience store the day after the murders, and made three (3) separate purchases each with a separate one hundred dollar (\$100.00) bill, and on these occasions, Fullbright purchased items that could be used to smoke drugs.

As a result, even if Judge McIntosh erred in admitting the video of *the arraignment/bond hearing* under Rule 403, the error was harmless where the evidence of Fullbright's guilt was overwhelming independent of this evidence, including two (2) written confessions and taking police to one (1) victim's body. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003)(admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence); State v. Braxton, 343 S.C. 629, 541 S.E.2d 833 (2001); State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 247 S.E.2d 334 (1978); *see* State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 469 S.E.2d 49 (1996)(error in admission of evidence is harmless where it is cumulative to other evidence properly admitted); Douglas, 367 S.C. at 520, 626 S.E.2d at 71 (admission of improper evidence

is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence).

### ARGUMENT III.

**Judge McIntosh did not err in admitting Fullbright's statements *to police* because the statements were not obtained in violation of Fullbright's constitutional rights, and Fullbright's statements were voluntary under the totality of the circumstances.**

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW (On Appeal)

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